
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE RURAL RETREAT TOWN 

COUNCIL HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS ON 

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 25, 2012, AT 7:00 P.M. 

 

Council Members Present: Mayor Timothy Litz; Vice-Mayor A. Keith Crigger; Ed Schaack; 

Dale Yontz; Jerrell Hall; Peggy Hash; James P. “Sean” Viars 

     

Council Members Absent:  None 

 

Administration Present: Michael James, Town Manager; Lori Guynn, Clerk/Treasurer; 

Scott Mitchell, Police Chief  

 

Administration Absent: None 

 

Others Present: Charles B. Miller; Michael Spraker; Frank Slavin; Jim Lloyd; B. 

Matthew Neiburger; Stanley King, Jr. 

 

DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM 

 

Mayor Litz called the meeting to order and determined a quorum was present. 

 

INVOCATION  

 

The invocation was given by Rev. Ed Schaack. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Mayor Litz. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

A motion was made by Councilmember Hall, seconded by Vice-Mayor Crigger to approve the 

minutes of the September 11, 2012 regular meeting.  There being no discussion, the motion 

passed by a vote of six (6) for: Crigger, Hall, Hash, Schaack, Viars, Yontz; zero (0) against. 

 

CITIZEN’S TIME    
 

Charles Miller addressed the Council on behalf of the Rural Retreat Depot Foundation, Inc.  Mr. 

Miller explained the Foundation was formed in August 2011 with only four members and has 

progressed slowly due to encountering many bumps.  He pointed out that since July 2012 the 

Foundation has increased in membership to around 40 members and established a governing 

body with operating committees.  During the past two months the membership has raised 

$35,000 in donations and pledges or loans, he added.  Mr. Miller explained that although this 

money has been raised there is a note for $90,000 to be paid to the owner by October 1.  He 

further stated the Foundation is seeking the town’s assistance in paying this note and would like 

to ask the town to loan them $60,000 to be repaid with interest at 3.25%.  This will allow for  



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SEPTEMBER 25, 2012 – PAGE 2 
 

breathing room to get organized fundraising activities planned and grant applications started, he 

added.  Mr. Miller pointed out most grant money is only available for renovation and not 

acquisition.  A grant application has been drafted by Frank Akers to be submitted to Norfolk 

Southern and plans are being made to approach the Tobacco Commission with the same 

proposal, Mr. Miller explained.  He continued by stating the Foundation would also like to be a 

part of the town’s downtown revitalization efforts.  Councilmember Hash commented she has 

been contacted by a former resident that is interested in making a donation.  She added she is 

compiling a packet to be sent to the person.  Councilmember Hall asked Mr. Miller if the 

Council agreed to lend the Foundation the money requested how the money will be repaid to the 

town.  Mr. Miller responded the money would be repaid through grants and donations.  He noted 

people have been hesitant to participate until recently.  Mr. Miller explained the town businesses 

have been contacted for donations and will be revisited soon.  He continued by explaining that 

Matthew Miller, who is a local extension agent has a lot of experience with fundraising on 

several different levels, has joined the Foundation and will be leading the fundraising efforts.  

Vice-Mayor Crigger asked Mr. Miller for the anticipated term to repay the loan.  Mr. Miller 

replied he wouldn’t guess because the group is still in the infancy stage.  Vice-Mayor Crigger 

asked if there was a timeline for the depot.  Mr. Miller stated the date is 2016 for final 

completion and the reopening celebration.  He added right now the goal is to begin cleaning the 

building, preserving as much as possible and keep the depot from deteriorating any further in 

order to begin making repairs.  Mayor Litz asked the Council if they were interested in 

discussing the request, if so, he would like a motion stating so.  Councilmember Schaack made a 

motion to discuss the loan request from the Rural Retreat Depot Foundation.  The motion was 

seconded by Councilmember Hash and passed by a vote of six (6) for: Crigger, Hall, Hash, 

Schaack, Viars, Yontz; zero (0) against.  Councilmember Viars addressed Mr. Miller and stated 

he had heard a lot of ideas about what the depot was going to be used for and asked if the 

Foundation had formed a plan.  Mr. Miller responded by explaining the depot will have to be as 

self-sufficient as possible.  Councilmember Yontz presented the concept of forming an O. 

Winston Link trail and designating Rural Retreat as a base point.  He noted he will be presenting 

this idea to Terry Kilgore.  He added the trail would establish markers from Roanoke to 

Abingdon in the areas where photographs were taken by Link.  Councilmember Yontz further 

explained Rural Retreat is fortunate be in the center and to have two locations, the depot and the 

Lutheran Church were Mrs. Dodson played the church bells.  There would have to be a 

commitment to follow through with this in order for the Tobacco Commission to support, 

Councilmember Yontz noted.  Mayor Litz pointed out the Tobacco Commission is interested in 

Southwest Virginia.  Michael Spraker stated as a future business owner in the downtown area 

that has a vested interest in what the downtown looks like he had a question and he pointed out 

he is serving on the committee to revitalize it.  He added since he has lived here there hasn’t been 

anything done to the depot.  He then asked what the town would like to see happen with the 

downtown area.  Vice-Mayor Crigger stated in his opinion the depot is the only thing left to save 

in the downtown.  He addressed concerns with spending taxpayer money on the depot but further 

stated the past is the past and now a new chapter must begin.  He noted there are stipulations on 

the use of the building set by Norfolk Southern therefore the town is obligated by the contract.  

Vice-Mayor Crigger commended the Foundation for taking on this project and for what they are 

trying to accomplish.  Mr. Miller stated most organizations starting out suffer from the same  



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SEPTEMBER 25, 2012 – PAGE 3 
 

things and struggle to establish.  Councilmember Hash commented community involvement is 

important.  Vice-Mayor Crigger stated that is the same problem as before because everyone 

wanted something done but no one was willing to contribute.  He addressed the financial aspect 

of the request and stated the town would be looking at a four to five year turnaround for 

repayment with a 3.25% interest rate which is currently the prime rate.  Vice-Mayor Crigger 

suggested if this is considered then possibly interest should be repaid on a one to five year 

balloon payment with the interest maturing at prime on an annual basis.  Jim Lloyd commented 

the depot is priceless to the community as shown a few years ago during the town meeting to 

acquire it.  He added it is an exciting time for Rural Retreat because people are interested in 

helping.  Councilmember Schaack agreed with Mr. Lloyd and stated he felt if the Foundation 

was the owner of the depot then donations will come much easier.  Mayor Litz commented today 

is the 25
th

 and the deadline is October 1.  He asked the Council how fast they want to move on 

the request.  Councilmember Hash added this needs to move forward as quickly as possible but 

the Foundation can’t move forward until the loan is paid off.  Councilmember Viars commented 

he would rather not make a decision tonight but there are a lot of questions to be answered.  

Councilmember Yontz asked at what point will the money be helping the Foundation and at what 

point will it be considered the Foundation is being loaned money to bail out a private citizen 

because this is his concern.  Mr. Miller responded it can’t be separated.  Councilmember Viars 

asked if this was a normal practice for towns to loan money to non-profit organizations and if the 

town’s legal counsel had been contacted.  Town Manager James explained a formal request has 

now been received and the town needs to make sure we can legally loan money to the 

organization.  He added he has contacted VML and will be meeting with Attorney Sobey 

tomorrow morning to review the legal options.  Stanley King commented he has been talking to 

people and they don’t want to see another failure for the community.  Mayor Litz suggested 

allowing the town until their first meeting of October to review the request.  He continued by 

stating he would like for the town to support the Foundation.  Mr. Lloyd addressed 

Councilmember Yontz and stated this is not a bailout for an individual but only the depot.  Mr. 

Miller commented everyone needs to stay focused on the goal of acquiring and renovating the 

depot.  Mayor Litz added there is a risk if the town does this and can’t legally do so because 

Town Manager James is trying to look out for the town.  Mr. King stated asking the town for the 

money is a last resort for the Foundation.  Town Manager James stated he would research the 

request to find out the town’s options and he asked the Finance Committee to meet to discuss the 

options.  The consensus was to continue the meeting to Thursday, September 27
th

 at 7:00 p.m.  

Mr. Miller thanked the Council for their time and comments.  Those present then left the 

meeting. 

 

CORRESPONDENCE 

 

REQUEST TO CONDUCT 5K – Clerk/Treasurer Guynn stated a request had been received 

from Marty Hadaway, coach for the Rural Retreat High School Cross Country Team asking for 

permission to conduct a 5K run on October 28
th

 at 2:00 p.m.  Vice-Mayor Crigger made a motion 

to sanction the RRHS Cross Country 5K run as a town event.  The motion was seconded by 

Councilmember Yontz and passed by a vote of six (6) for: Crigger, Hall, Hash, Schaack, Viars, 

Yontz; zero (0) against. 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SEPTEMBER 25, 2012 – PAGE 4 

 

POLICE REPORT 

 

Chief Mitchell reported he is working with Wythe County on traffic control during the morning 

and afternoon hours on East Buck, Parsonage and Sherwood Avenues related to traffic going to 

and from school.  Several vehicles have been stopped.  To date there have been no animal 

complaints received this month.  He also noted he is working on inoperative motor vehicle letters 

that will be sent out next week. 

 

Mayor Litz stated Stuart Pratt has requested a speed limit sign be installed on Chinquapin 

Avenue toward the section near West Lee Highway.  Mayor Litz stated he directed Mr. Pratt to 

contact Mr. James at the town hall. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

NONE 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

RESOLUTION – IN SUPPORT OF THE RURAL RETREAT DEPOT FOUNDATION, INC – 

Mayor Litz read the resolution as follows: 

 

WHEREAS, the Rural Retreat Depot Foundation is a chartered 501(c)(3) charitable 

corporation organized and existing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the principal purpose of the Foundation is the purchase, restoration and 

renovation of the old Norfolk & Western Railroad Depot Building located in the downtown area 

of the Town of Rural Retreat, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Depot Building is one of very few such railroad depots remaining in the 

Commonwealth of Virginia, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Depot Building is prominently featured in photographs of early 

railroading by O. Winston Link, and 

 

 WHEREAS, restoring and renovating the Depot Building will significantly improve the 

appearance of downtown Rural Retreat while assisting to preserve the history of the Town and 

region, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Rural Retreat Depot Foundation has now accumulated a large number 

of members, elected officers and directors and has received numerous contributions toward 

achieving its purpose, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the support of local government entities is essential to completing the 

purpose for which the Foundation was created. 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SEPTEMBER 25, 2012 – PAGE 5 
 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Rural Retreat Town Council does 

hereby express its sincere and continuing support for the Rural Retreat Depot Foundation, 

encouraging all the citizens of Rural Retreat and Wythe County to provide financial and 

community support which is necessary to accomplish its worthy goals. 

  

 Adopted by the Council of the Town of Rural Retreat, Virginia, on the 25th day of 

September, 2012. 

 

Vice-Mayor Crigger made a motion to adopt the resolution as read in support of the Rural 

Retreat Depot Foundation, Inc.  The motion was seconded by Councilmember Yontz and passed 

by a vote of six (6) for: Crigger, Hall, Hash, Schaack, Viars, Yontz; zero (0) against. 

 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 

HERITAGE DAYS – Chairman Yontz inquired if a response had been received from the main 

act.  Town Manager James replied he had not heard anything for several weeks. 

 

Chairman Yontz also reported he and Mayor Litz met with Virginia’s former first lady Susan 

Allen the previous afternoon.  They gave her a tour of Rural Retreat and visited several locations 

around town.  Mayor Litz pointed out they walked throughout town as she was not interested in 

riding. 

 

TOWN MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

The following items were discussed and/or acted upon: 

 

OUT-OF-TOWN WATER PROJECT DIVISION IV (WATER PLANT ELECTRICAL 

IMPROVEMENTS) – We are finishing up the installation of the VFD technology.  The 

electrical installation will be completed tomorrow.  Due to postponing the September 11
th

 

inspection, we are still working to schedule the final inspection.  

 

OUT-OF-TOWN WATER PROJECT DIVISION III (Chinquapin & Lee Highway) – 

Reconnection work is ongoing.  Staff has been given a deadline of the first week of November to 

complete the project.  Pollard’s Lawn Service has been contracted to complete the yard 

restoration work upon the connections being completed.  This will closeout all work pertaining 

to this portion of the Out-of-Town Project. 

 

TEA-21 PHASE VII SIDEWALK IMPROVEMENT PROJECT – VDOT has responded to the 

Town and noted that they will provide written feedback next week.  They have concerns over the 

drainage at the intersection of Greever and Buck St.  We will not know what they are exactly 

until we receive their notes.  We will then resubmit the project to VDOT for another approval 

process which will hopefully be a quick turnaround. 

 

STALEY SPRING PROJECT – We are still working to schedule a meeting with the Town, 

Smyth and Wythe Counties. 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SEPTEMBER 25, 2012 – PAGE 6 
 

DHCD PLANNING GRANT – RURAL RETREAT DOWNTOWN BUSINESS DISTRICT – 

We will hold our second Management Team meeting October 3
rd

 at 7PM here at Town Hall.  

The Management Team will be presented with the results of the business surveys and a map of 

the downtown area.  This will most likely be our final management team meeting before we 

submit our proposal to DHCD for a formal planning grant. 

  

GIS MAPPING UPDATE – With a large number of new utility projects being completed the 

Town contracted with A&A to create a new GIS map of the Town.  This project should be 

completed in the coming weeks. 

 

WATER ACCOUNTABILITY – The loss for August was around the 30% range.  Mayor Litz 

asked what the accountability level must be in order to not be in violation because 30% concerns 

him.  Town Manager James stated the limit is 30%. 

 

ANDERSON & ASSOCIATES, INC. STATUS REPORT – The monthly status report is 

attached for review. 

 

TREASURER’S REPORT 

 

Clerk/Treasurer Guynn reported the 2012 tax books have been received and she will present the 

tax information at the next meeting. 

 

The bills for September 25, 2012 were read and approved. 

 

TALK OF THE TOWN 

 

Town Manager James is to attend the Talk of the Town radio program at the WYVE/WXBX 

radio station on Wednesday morning. 

 

CLOSED MEETING – DISCUSSION OF PERSONNEL MATTERS 

 

A motion was made by Councilmember Yontz, seconded by Councilmember Viars to convene to 

a closed meeting in accordance with §2.2-3711,A-1 of the Code of Virginia - discussion, 

consideration or interviews of prospective candidates for employment; assignment; appointment, 

promotion, performance, demotion, salaries, disciplining or resignation of specific public 

officers, appointees or employees of any public body.  Mayor Litz pointed out this closed 

meeting is for the purpose of conducting an employment evaluation on the town manager. 

 

The motion was approved with the following voting in favor: Crigger, Hall, Hash, Schaack, 

Viars, Yontz. 

 

Mayor Litz called the regular meeting back into open session. 

 

 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SEPTEMBER 25, 2012 – PAGE 7 

 

Motion was made by Councilmember Dale Yontz, seconded by Councilmember Peggy Hash, to 

adopt the following Resolution: 

 

WHEREAS, the Rural Retreat Town Council has convened a closed meeting on this date 

pursuant to an affirmative recorded vote and in accordance with the provisions of the Virginia 

Freedom of Information Act; and, 

 

WHEREAS, Section 2.2-3712, paragraph D, of the Code of Virginia requires a certificate by 

this Council that such closed meeting was conducted in conformity with Virginia Law; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Rural Retreat Town Council hereby 

certifies that to the best of each member’s knowledge, (1) only public business matters lawfully 

exempted from open meeting requirements by Virginia law were discussed in the closed meeting 

to which this certificate resolution applies, and (2) only such public business matters as were 

identified in the motion convening the closed meeting were heard, discussed, or considered by 

the Council. 

 

Vote:       Ayes    Nays 

A. Keith Crigger       X 

Jerrell Hall        X 

Peggy Hash        X 

Ed Schaack        X 

James P. “Sean” Viars      X 

Dale Yontz        X 

 

Absent during meeting: None 

 

Absent during vote: None 

 

CONTINUATION OF MEETING                                                                                   

 

There being no additional business for discussion, the meeting was continued until Thursday, 

September 27
th

 at 7:00 p.m.  The Finance Committee will be meeting prior to the meeting at 6:00 

p.m. 

 

RECONVENE 

 

The meeting was reconvened on Thursday, September 27
th

 at 7:00 p.m. 

 

Council Members Present: Mayor Timothy Litz; Vice-Mayor A. Keith Crigger; Ed Schaack; 

Jerrell Hall; Peggy Hash; James P. “Sean” Viars 

     

Council Members Absent:  Dale Yontz 

 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SEPTEMBER 25, 2012 – PAGE 8 
 

Administration Present: Michael James, Town Manager; Lori Guynn, Clerk/Treasurer; 

Scott Mitchell, Police Chief  

 

Administration Absent: None 

 
Others Present: Charles B. Miller; Frank Slavin; Jim Lloyd; B. Matthew Neiburger; 

Stanley King, Jr. 
 

DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM 

 

Mayor Litz called the meeting to order and determined a quorum was present. 

 

REQUEST BY RURAL RETREAT DEPOT FOUNDATION – Mayor Litz asked the 

Council if they had had time to review the proposals that Town Manager James had drafted.  He 

noted to handle this correctly a motion and second would need to be made.  Finance Committee 

Chairman Crigger explained the Committee met prior to the meeting and at this time can’t make 

a recommendation to the Council.  He added the Town has been advised that they can’t loan 

money.  Councilmember Schaack referred to one of Town Manager James’ proposals and asked 

the Foundation members present for their opinion if they agreed to the town donating $60,000 to 

the Foundation with an informal agreement to repay the money at 3.25% interest over a three 

year period.  Frank Slavin, legal advisor for the Rural Retreat Depot Foundation responded yes 

or the Foundation can deed the property to the town.  He added if the town took title to the 

property the Foundation would be willing to lease the property or repay the money to assume 

ownership.  Mayor Litz explained the depot belongs to the public anyway the deed is written.  

He also stated he and Councilmember Schaack are members of the Foundation therefore they 

will have to abstain from voting but can participate in the discussion.  Councilmember Hash 

made a motion to donate $60,000 to the Rural Retreat Depot Foundation to be repaid to the town 

over a period of three years with interest at 3.25%.  Councilmember Viars seconded the motion.  

Mayor Litz asked Vice-Mayor Crigger to explain a repayment option.  Vice-Mayor Crigger 

explained the Foundation could make balloon payments with interest to be paid at 12, 24 and 36 

months with the principal paid within 36 months.  Jim Lloyd asked if the town will have 

ownership of the depot.  Mayor Litz replied no.  Town Manager James stated he wanted to 

clarify that this is a donation, not a loan, with no legal recourse in recovering the money if not 

repaid.  Councilmember Hall commented he is not comfortable with the agreements or the 

resiliency under purview to the taxpayers.  There being no additional discussion on the motion, 

the roll call vote was as follows: 

Aye: Hash, Viars 

Nay: Crigger, Hall 

Abstained: Schaack, Litz 

Absent: Yontz 

 

The motion was not approved as a result of the tied vote. 

 

Vice-Mayor Crigger stated he isn’t against what the town is trying to do but he would like to 

have more time to consider the request and have more clarity on the legality.  Jim Lloyd asked  



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – SEPTEMBER 25, 2012 – PAGE 9 
 

Vice-Mayor Crigger where he had doubts.  Vice-Mayor Crigger stated without recourse.  The 

judge ruled the building is personal property and there are questions on the deed of trust and 

having to make a decision within 48 hours, he added.  He continued by explaining giving 

$60,000 in taxpayer money is overwhelming.  Charles Miller stated it will be easier to approach 

businesses in town for support if the town is behind the Foundation.  Matthew Neiburger 

commented he has been coming to Rural Retreat for over 20 years and has been involved in this 

type of project.  He stated from a practical standpoint by making the investment it seems like a 

lot but grant agencies and others will be looking to find out if there is a public/private 

partnership.  He pointed out this will be a benefit for both the town and the Foundation by 

making an investment in the town.  Mayor Litz thanked Mr. Neiburger for his comments.  Vice-

Mayor Crigger asked Councilmember Hall if the amount of money was the concern.  

Councilmember Hall replied no, it is not the money nor the agreement but any taxpayer can look 

at it and question what is being done with their money.  Mr. Miller asked the Council if the 

amount is the issue.  Mayor Litz replied the Council did not expect the request to be $60,000 

they were anticipating $30,000 because that was the offer made previously for the purchase of 

the depot.  Town Manager James stated he is in favor of supporting the Foundation and a loan 

would be easier but the town can’t do that.  He added it is a sound investment in the community 

and recouping the money would not be a concern but there is no legality.  Councilmember Hall 

stated it is a matter of being fiscally responsible to the taxpayers and their money.  He continued 

by stating if the town had previously pledged to donate the money then he would have no 

problem with it.  Town Manager James explained the next meeting is October 9
th

 and asked the 

Foundation members present if it would hurt the Foundation if a decision was not made until 

then in order to obtain more information.  Mr. King responded he did not know if it would affect 

the Foundation.  Mr. Slavin asked if the town could donate $30,000.  Vice-Mayor Crigger made 

a motion to donate $30,000 to the Rural Retreat Depot Foundation.  The motion was seconded by 

Councilmember Hall.  Councilmember Viars asked for clarification on the motion by asking if 

the town will be donating $30,000 free and clear instead of making a loan for $60,000.  Vice-

Mayor Crigger responded that is correct and the town will show that they are supporting the 

Foundation’s efforts.  The motion passed by a vote of four (4): Crigger, Hall, Hash, Viars; one 

(1) abstained: Schaack; one (1) absent: Yontz.  The Foundation members thanked the Council for 

their time and the donation made. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

There being no additional business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned upon a motion by 

Councilmember Hall.  The motion was duly seconded and approved. 

 

 

 

 

                                

 Mayor       Clerk 

                           


